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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning,

          3  everyone, and welcome to today's hearing of the City

          4  Council's Committee on Transportation.  My name is

          5  John Liu, I have the privilege of chairing this

          6  Committee.

          7                 There are three items on today's

          8  agenda:

          9                 The first is proposed Intro. No. 16-

         10  A.  This bill would impose a new safety requirement

         11  on school buses and other motor vehicles engaged in

         12  the business of transporting children to and from

         13  schools within New York City.  The measure would

         14  require all drivers of such vehicles to carry either

         15  two- way radios or cellular phones when performing

         16  their duties.  This is a common sense safety measure

         17  that would facilitate rapid communications when an

         18  emergency situation occurs, such as a bus breakdown,

         19  or a child becoming sick.

         20                 The second bill on the agenda, this

         21  morning, is Intro. No. 262.  This bill also relates

         22  to transporting children to and from schools within

         23  New York City.  The health and well being of

         24  children with disabilities is at the heart of this

         25  bill.  The bill requires air conditioning on all
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          2  buses or other motor vehicles engaged in the

          3  business of transporting children with disabilities

          4  to and from schools within the City.  Many children

          5  with disabilities are forced to spend longer periods

          6  of time in transit to get to their schools than

          7  children who do not have disabilities, and this is

          8  because they must often travel to a school designed

          9  specifically to educate children with that

         10  particular disability. Additionally, certain types

         11  of health conditions necessitate a climate control

         12  environment in order to preserve and enhance the

         13  health of that individual child.  And furthermore,

         14  the child with a disability is least likely able to

         15  speak up for themselves when they are simply

         16  uncomfortable or could be suffering from any heat

         17  conditions.

         18                 The final item to be heard in this

         19  Committee, today, is Resolution No. 45.  This

         20  resolution calls upon the appropriate New York City

         21  agencies to coordinate a traffic safety plan in New

         22  York City that would identify intersections near

         23  senior centers. It would also require signs advising

         24  motorists to proceed cautiously at and around such

         25  locations.  The resolution seeks the implementation
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          2  of greater protections for New York City's senior

          3  citizens from the hazards created by motor vehicle

          4  traffic.

          5                 I want to welcome all who have

          6  attended today to testify, and if you do wish to

          7  testify, please provide the Sergeant- At- Arms with

          8  a completed testimony sheet, which are available up

          9  here in front.

         10                 I am pleased to be joined by my

         11  colleague, Council Member Michael Nelson from

         12  Brooklyn, welcome.  And to my right, I have my

         13  esteemed Legislative Counsel, Mitchell Schwartz.

         14                 Welcome, everybody, and at this point

         15  I would like to invite Robert  Grotell, Deputy

         16  Commissioner of the Department of Transportation to

         17  provide us with your comments.  Good morning, Bob.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Good

         19  morning, Mr. Chairman.  In order to save a little

         20  time, unfortunately, I do have a pressing engagement

         21  right after this, so if it is okay with you, I would

         22  like to testify on both bills at one time, both 16-

         23  A and 262?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Please do.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Okay,

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  thank you.  Good morning Chairman Liu and members of

          3  the Committee on Transportation.  My name is Robert

          4  Grotell, and I am the Deputy Commissioner for

          5  Passenger Transport at the New York City Department

          6  of Transportation.  I am pleased to be here this

          7  morning to discuss Intro. 262, which requires air

          8  conditioning on all buses and other motor vehicles

          9  engaged in transporting children with disabilities

         10  to and from school.  And Intro. 16- A, which

         11  requires bus drivers to carry two- way radios or

         12  cellular phones when transporting children.

         13                 Like the Council, DOT takes these

         14  issues very seriously, and we have a long history of

         15  dedication to the safe, comfortable, and efficient

         16  transportation of special needs pre kindergarten

         17  children.  DOT's pre- K student transportation unit,

         18  which is a major component of the Passenger

         19  Transport Division, is responsible for transporting

         20  disabled children under the age of five to early

         21  intervention, therapy, and school programs

         22  throughout the New York Metropolitan area.  Our pre-

         23  K vendors provide over 2.4 million round trips per

         24  year, transporting approximately 12,000 children per

         25  day.  This program is run in the collaboration with
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          2  the Department of Education, and the Department of

          3  Health and Mental Hygiene.  It should be noted that

          4  Pre- K contracts do not include buses that are hired

          5  by schools, or parents, or for other transportation

          6  needs, such as field trips.

          7                 Starting in 1998, the Department of

          8  Transportation mandated that all pre- K vendor

          9  vehicles be air- conditioned.  Buses operating on

         10  older contracts, without air conditioning, were

         11  required to be retrofitted within 60 days at the

         12  City's expense. In total, from 1998 to 2001, the

         13  City paid over $600,000 to 27 vendors for upgrading

         14  276 vehicles, which represents approximately 20

         15  percent of the pre- K fleet.  In 2001, DOT

         16  strengthened its contract specifications to require

         17  that acceptable climate control levels are

         18  maintained by each vendor.  These climate levels are

         19  temperature specific and link the in- bus and

         20  ambient temperatures.

         21                 In regard to communication, Pre- K

         22  contracts have required two- way radios in the buses

         23  and at a base station since 1995, when the first DOT

         24  Pre- K contracts were bid.  Additionally, these

         25  contracts required that the radios must have federal
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          2  communication commission licenses and minimum power

          3  output to ensure that any bus can contact the base

          4  station from the farthest point on its root.  We

          5  have just revised our current bid specification so

          6  that contracts beginning in 2003 will also allow for

          7  new technology, such as cell phones and Nextels.

          8  The new contracts also require that the company

          9  trains both the driver and the attendant on the

         10  proper use of the equipment, and there is a

         11  prohibition against any employees using the

         12  communication devices for personal reasons.

         13                 Failure to provide the required level

         14  or communications equipment results in the

         15  assessment of liquidated damages against the

         16  company.  For each instance, where a vendor violates

         17  these provisions, the Department of Transportation

         18  assesses $200 for contracts bid prior to June 1999,

         19  and $400 for contracts bid since May of 2000.  To

         20  enforce these rules Pre- K's inspection staff

         21  conducts regular field visits to the schools and bus

         22  garages, as well as along the bus routes.  An

         23  inspector boards the bus, verifies the temperature

         24  using a digital thermometer, and checks the

         25  communication system by having the bus operator
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          2  contact their garage as the inspector listens.  When

          3  a violation is observed, the inspector reports the

          4  information to the bus operator and notifies Pre- K

          5  management, who then ensures that the vendors

          6  corrects the violation.  If the violation involves a

          7  non- working radio, once the children are off-

          8  loaded, the bus is taken out of service and is

          9  replaced with a bus that has a working radio.

         10  Vendors who continue to operate buses with these

         11  problems run the risk of having their contracts

         12  terminated or becoming ineligible for future bid

         13  awards.

         14                 I would like to thank you for this

         15  opportunity to testify before you today, and I would

         16  be happy to answer any questions that you may have.

         17  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, and we

         19  are joined by Council Member Eva Moskowitz from

         20  Manhattan, good morning.

         21                 Thank you for your comments.  I

         22  probably have just a few short questions.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Sure.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I think that your

         25  testimony with regard to the air conditioning on
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          2  school buses relates to just children under the age

          3  of five.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes,

          5  our program only deals, the Pre- K transportation

          6  program that DOT is responsible for, only deals with

          7  the five and under program.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay.  Is there any

          9  kind of requirement on school buses that transport

         10  children who are older than the age of five and do

         11  have disabilities, or is there any kind of

         12  prevalence, statistics in terms of how many school

         13  buses do not yet have the air conditioning?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well

         15  again, I can only comment on our program at DOT,

         16  which is the five and under.  All the buses have air

         17  conditioning, and all the buses have the two- way

         18  radios, that is a contractual requirement.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I know that many of

         20  the school buses would not fall necessarily under

         21  the jurisdiction of the DOT. And I know we will be

         22  hearing soon from Kevin Gill.  And perhaps I can ask

         23  you the same question at that point.

         24                 But I would be interested to know how

         25  prevalent is air conditioning on buses that
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          2  transport children over the age of five who have

          3  disabilities.  And I known the prime sponsor of the

          4  this bill, Hiram Monserrate is a colleague of ours,

          5  obviously, and he has a child that does take a

          6  school bus to and from the learning institution.

          7  His child is disabled, over the age of five, and he

          8  has a very personal concern, and obviously, he is

          9  not the only one in the City.  I think there are

         10  many children who, I think we probably have an

         11  increasing number of children with disabilities who

         12  need the proper transportation to and from school,

         13  and we do not want to short change any of these kids

         14  by making it more difficult or even hazardous for

         15  them to get to and from school.

         16                 And so I think that we definitely

         17  want to do something that will be beneficial and at

         18  the same time practical. Thank you.

         19                 Are there any questions or comments

         20  from my colleagues?  Council Member Nelson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chairman.  I just had a few questions based upon

         23  your statement.  There is a sentence here that says

         24  that we have just revised our current bid

         25  specifications so that contracts beginning in 2003
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          2  will also allow the new technology, such as cell

          3  phones and Nextels.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  But the word

          6  allow may not mean a done deal or definitely written

          7  that it is going to happen.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well

          9  what it does provide is, it gives them the option.

         10  A two- way radio, currently is required.  And what

         11  it does is expand the definition of communication

         12  device to include other devices as the technology

         13  improves and expands as well.  So cellulars, the

         14  Nextels will also be allowed.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So it will be

         16  a communicative device, or it is just a question of

         17  which one?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Oh, so that

         20  is, would be in compliance.  Okay.

         21                 There was $400 it went up to, it was

         22  in 2000, the fine?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Right,

         24  it went from $200 to $400.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Do you have
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          2  an idea, a ballpark figure of about the amount of

          3  fines the City has received?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well

          5  actually, these two areas, both the air conditioning

          6  and the radios have not been problematic for our

          7  program.  The vendors are very much in compliance,

          8  and we are not in the business to raise revenue with

          9  these liquidated damages, and it has not been

         10  problematic.  Our inspectors who go out, you know,

         11  well over a thousand times during the year, have not

         12  been coming back with any significant volumes on

         13  either of these areas.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Well I would

         15  hope that that would be the case.  It is good to

         16  hear that it is, because we do not want to be just

         17  punitive, it is true.  But the fines would not be

         18  bad if they deserved it.

         19                  "Vendors who continue to operate

         20  buses with these problems run the risk of having

         21  their contracts terminated," have we had that in the

         22  fiscal 2000, 2001?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes, we

         24  have terminated one or two contracts recently, but

         25  not because of these two items.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay.  Okay,

          3  I think, okay, at least from your own testimony,

          4  okay, I just, I had to run those by.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Sure.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Thank

          9  you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         13  Member Nelson. Okay, Council Member Nelson is the

         14  prime sponsor of Intro. 16- A, as well as Resolution

         15  45.  Thank you for submitting those pieces of

         16  legislation.  Questions from Council Member

         17  Moskowitz.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,

         19  Mr. Chair. And thank you very much for being here.

         20  I just wanted to go back to a question that my

         21  colleague, Council Member Nelson asked, can you tell

         22  me how many instances have there been where damages

         23  have been demanded of companies that have not

         24  complied with either your contract requirement for

         25  air conditioners or communications equipment?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  All I

          3  can tell you, Council member, every time an instance

          4  is observed, what our process is, is we will

          5  immediately notify the operator, we notify Pre- K

          6  management, the inspector will contact the office.

          7  We will then immediately contact the management of

          8  that Pre- K vendor.  And we have, I will say, 100

          9  percent success rate in having them rectify the

         10  situation very, very quickly.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay, let

         12  me ask the question differently then.  How many

         13  instances have you had to notify the management

         14  company that they are not in compliance?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Sure,

         16  well out of the last year, we had approximately 28

         17  instances, I'm sorry, May of this year to present,

         18  we had about 28 instances where inspectors observed

         19  that a radio was not working, and about 35 instances

         20  where the air conditioning was not in compliance.

         21  If necessary, we will down the bus, if the radio is

         22  not working, as I said.  And then with the air

         23  conditioning we give the vendors a few days to

         24  rectify the situation, and if they do not, then we

         25  would proceed with a liquidated damage.  And every
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          2  occurrence of the numbers that I just mentioned, all

          3  the problems were addressed and mitigated.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And when

          5  you say instance, does that mean a bus or a

          6  management company?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  That is

          8  a bus.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  So there

         10  were from May of this past year, there were 28 buses

         11  out of how many?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well we

         13  operate the total Pre- K fleet that are privately

         14  operated fleet, there are about 1,500 buses in

         15  total.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  So out of

         17  1,500, 28 had a failure, communications failure of

         18  some sort?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  When

         20  the inspectors went on the bus and did the test, the

         21  test failed, correct.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And the

         23  air conditioning would be out of the same 1,500,

         24  presumably.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes.

                                                            17

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay.  And

          3  I apologize for missing the very beginning of your

          4  testimony, but I guess I just wanted to understand.

          5  In the written testimony I did not hear you express

          6  the Department's view on this particular

          7  legislation. It seems as if, if I am understanding

          8  correctly, you require the very things that the law

          9  is proposing to require.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes.

         11  We already require it through our contractual

         12  agreements that we have, on both issues, both air

         13  conditioning and two- way communication.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And is it

         15  the Department's view that this would be

         16  duplicative?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well,

         18  again, the contracts already require it, so I guess,

         19  yes.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And is

         21  there a view about that the Department has, I mean,

         22  one of the things I was pleased that Council Member

         23  Nelson, obviously, we are always trying to, we see

         24  problems out there and we are trying to come up with

         25  solutions. Is it the view, and this is perhaps more
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          2  of a philosophical question, but, you know we are

          3  always struggling, what do you legislate versus what

          4  do you try to accomplish through a variety of other

          5  mean, and I was wondering if the Department had a

          6  view just on when you use the power of the

          7  contracting requirement versus when you use the

          8  power of the law to accomplish?  I understand that

          9  your view is that this is already being

         10  accomplished.  But is there a view that the

         11  Department has on that issue?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well I

         13  think we look at each program within, for example,

         14  my division, the Passenger Transport Division, which

         15  runs the other mass transit system in the City of

         16  New York, and we look at each programmatic area, and

         17  where we contract out, for example, our subsidized

         18  bus transferred program, we look at all the areas

         19  with the passenger focus, and we see what needs,

         20  what levels of service need to be provided, and we

         21  try to build that into contractual agreements that

         22  we have.

         23                 So in this case with the Pre- K

         24  student transportation, when we took over the

         25  program, we looked at the existing contracts and we
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          2  tried to determine if there were areas that there

          3  was room for improvement, and where we found those

          4  areas, we have, over time, been strengthening the

          5  language.  And so, I think we have accomplished

          6  that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And one

          8  final question, and this is a question I also want

          9  to ask Kevin Gill, and I realize it is not directly

         10  on point, but it is related, the issue of seat

         11  belts.  Do they currently exist on your Pre- K

         12  buses, and is that a contract requirement?

         13                 I apologize, Chair, for going a

         14  little off the topic.  But since they have said that

         15  they are looking for things to put into the

         16  contract, I am just wondering, because that has been

         17  a concern for a number of parents.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Okay, I

         19  would like to introduce Shawna Dinkinson, who is the

         20  Executive Director of our Pre- K program, she can

         21  address your question.  Thank you.

         22                 MS. DINKINSON:  Because the children

         23  that we are dealing with are under the age of five,

         24  we require a variety of type of safety restraints.

         25  Only the various largest and healthiest of our
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          2  children can use seat belts.  We require child

          3  seats, the little booster seats, and depending on

          4  their size and their age, we even have infant seats,

          5  and we also determine which way they must be facing,

          6  either they face the seat or they face forward,

          7  usually in compliance with the State rules.

          8                 And for the wheelchairs, we specify

          9  certain, I think, four- point tie downs.  So it is,

         10  for our program, it is very dependent on the

         11  disabilities and the size of the child.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And is

         13  that inspected too with regard to compliance?

         14                 MS. DINKINSON:  Absolutely.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And do you

         16  just have a figure for us of how many companies,

         17  when you have done the inspections, have not

         18  complied with the regulations?

         19                 MS. DINKINSON:  We can get that for

         20  you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  If it

         22  would be possible, Chairman Liu, to ask for that

         23  information.  And I, again, apologize for being a

         24  little off topic, that would be very helpful.  Thank

         25  you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  And,

          3  yes, I would agree with Council Member Moskowitz

          4  that it would be helpful for us to receive from your

          5  Department the results of inspections of compliance

          6  with regard to these child safety seats and booster

          7  seats in some cases.

          8                 I actually was at a meeting at Queens

          9  Borough Hall, just a couple of days ago, where there

         10  was a presentation given by some of the folks at

         11  Saint Mary's Hospital for Children, and this was one

         12  of the issues they spoke about.  And this does not

         13  necessarily relate to the programs that you run, but

         14  it relates to other companies that transport

         15  children to and from school that are not under the

         16  jurisdiction of DOT.  And they had found that there

         17  was quite a bit of non- compliance or only partial

         18  compliance with the seat belt and the child seat

         19  rules, with regard to the age of the child seats.

         20  You know, after a few years, the child seats are no

         21  longer in compliance with up- to- date standards.  I

         22  mean, in some cases the materials may have weakened

         23  somewhat over the years, standards like that.

         24                 So it would be helpful if you could

         25  provide us with any kind of information relating to
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          2  that.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Sure,

          4  very good.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  We are

          6  also joined by Council Member Diana Reyna from

          7  Brooklyn.

          8                 And let me just briefly note that a

          9  number of our colleagues are, at this time, in

         10  Washington, D.C., there is a legislative session and

         11  briefing going on with our delegation of members of

         12  Congress from New York.  So we are stuck here in New

         13  York, Mike and myself, Eva and Diana, and that is

         14  not a bad thing.

         15                 Any other questions?  Council Member

         16  Nelson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Just a quick

         18  one.  I would rather be in New York City any time.

         19                 Going along with 2003, when the

         20  contracts will begin for the new technology, do you

         21  have a target date, perhaps, when the buses may be

         22  100 percent compliant, equipped?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well,

         24  again, the contract requirements right now are 100

         25  percent.  And what would happen with the new bid,
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          2  when those contracts are awarded, from Day 1, they

          3  will be required to be 100 percent.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So right now

          5  as we speak every bus out there, there is a

          6  communicative device?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay.  When

          9  did that occur, though?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Well we

         11  took over these contracts, the first DOT bids were

         12  in 1995 and that is how far back we go with this.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay.

         14  Because my involvement with this began years back

         15  when there was an accident in my district, and I

         16  went to a local hospital, and I heard the driver did

         17  not have a device to get in touch with somebody.  He

         18  had to flag down a motorist, which I could not

         19  believe what I was hearing.  It was enough that

         20  there were no seat belts in school buses.  But when

         21  I heard that I said something has got to give with

         22  that.  And then I won my Council seat, so ever since

         23  I got on, I have been pushing for this.  Well I am

         24  glad to hear that part of it.

         25                 Do you know of any amendments or
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          2  modifications, you alluded to some, or would be

          3  necessary, please make sure you get to drafting, and

          4  we will see if we can work together with it?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Sure.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay, thank

          7  you.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Thank

          9  you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         13  Member Nelson. Thank you very much for coming down

         14  this morning.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GROTELL:  Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I would like to ask

         18  Kevin Gill from the New York City Department of

         19  Education, thank you very much for coming this

         20  morning, Mr. Gill.

         21                 MR. GILL:  Good morning, Chairman Liu

         22  and members of the Council's Transportation

         23  Committee.  My name is Kevin Gill.  I am the

         24  Executive Director of the Division of Food Services

         25  and Transportation of the New York City Department
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          2  of Education.  I appreciate the opportunity to

          3  testify before you today on Intro. 16- A, requiring

          4  cell phones or two- way radios in all school buses.

          5  Currently, under New York City Department of

          6  Education, pupil transportation contracts, all

          7  school buses are required to have two- way radios.

          8  These contracts cover all public and non- public

          9  schools and apply to the general and special

         10  education populations. Therefore, the Department is

         11  currently in compliance with the provisions of this

         12  proposed legislation.

         13                 As for Intro. 262, I would like to

         14  outline the process we follow to determine if a

         15  child requires an air conditioned environment.

         16  Currently, each special education student must have

         17  an individualized education program review, at

         18  least, once a year, and more frequently if there are

         19  changes in the student's condition or situation.

         20  The student's transportation needs are considered

         21  during that review; and if it is determined that

         22  they require additional accommodations on the bus to

         23  and from school, such as air conditioning or climate

         24  controlled transportation, it will be specified on

         25  the IEP.  In those circumstances, the Committee on
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          2  Special Education reviews medical documentation,

          3  substantiating the need for air conditioning, and

          4  where warranted recommends this service.  The

          5  Committee on Special Education then provides this

          6  information to the Office of Pupil Transportation to

          7  arrange for the air- conditioned service.

          8                 It is important to note that just

          9  because a student receives special education

         10  service, does not mean that he or she is in need of

         11  air conditioning.  The majority of our special

         12  education students are mildly learning disabled and

         13  emotionally disturbed. Those students, who have

         14  conditions that require an air- conditioned vehicle,

         15  already are provided this service upon the receipt

         16  of medical documentation.  As we move to a more

         17  unified system, federal and state law require the

         18  Department to provide the least restrictive

         19  environment for special education children.  For

         20  many years we have worked to have students with

         21  disabilities to be transported on general Ed buses,

         22  that is stop- to- stop, unless their disability

         23  precludes this and they require IEP driven special

         24  education, door- to- door transportation.  If only

         25  special education buses are air conditioned, parents
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          2  will fight to get their children on these buses.

          3  Furthermore, if the legislation requires any bus

          4  that carries a disabled student to be air

          5  conditioned, in essence, it could mean all buses.

          6  When a student's condition warrants air

          7  conditioning, it is provided.  Therefore, this

          8  legislation is unnecessary.

          9                 Currently, 15 percent of special

         10  education mini wagons, ramp wagons and hydraulic

         11  lift buses are required to have air conditioning.

         12  The 15 percent level is part of yearly air

         13  conditioning phase- in to be not less than 20

         14  percent of affected vehicles July 1st, 2003, and not

         15  less than 25 percent of affected vehicles by July 1,

         16  2004.  Although it varies by contractor and vehicle

         17  type, in actuality 46 percent of that portion of the

         18  fleet is already air- conditioned.  There are

         19  currently 605 routes transporting one or more

         20  students who have had air- conditioned

         21  transportation, specified on their IEPs.  Also

         22  currently, there are 1,258 air- conditioned

         23  hydraulic lift buses, ramp wagons and mini wagons

         24  available to the fleet.  While not all vehicles are

         25  air conditioned, the existing levels have allowed us
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          2  to address the needs of some of the most fragile

          3  students within the limited resources available.

          4                 Thank you, and I am happy to take

          5  your questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Gill.  I do have a quick question before I turn it

          8  over to my colleagues.  And that is, in your

          9  testimony about Intro. 262 and the statistics that

         10  you have provided, does that pertain to the entire

         11  realm of all of the school buses in New York City

         12  that transport children with disabilities?  In other

         13  words, does the Department of Education have

         14  jurisdiction over all of these school buses, or are

         15  there, perhaps, some private companies or private

         16  schools that do not need to fall under the

         17  Department of Education Guidelines?

         18                 MR. GILL:  There are, although, we

         19  provide transportation to private and non- public

         20  schools, there are private schools that opt to

         21  provide the service on their own, we do not have

         22  jurisdiction over them.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And when you say

         24  that this legislation may not be necessary, would

         25  you make that comment only with regard to those

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  school buses that are under the jurisdiction of the

          3  Department of Education?

          4                 MR. GILL:  Yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Okay, thank you.

          6  Council Member Nelson.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Good morning,

          8  Mr. Gill.  I just had a quick question, I saw,

          9  perhaps, like a possible conflict that included in

         10  the testimony, "as we move to a more unified system

         11  federal and state law require the Department to

         12  provide the least restrictive environment for

         13  special Ed children."  Is this suggesting a possible

         14  conflict at all between getting the special Ed kids

         15  who need air conditioning into a bus, if it takes

         16  them away from being in the least restrictive

         17  environment?  I am just curious about that, if there

         18  was any terminology that was indicated in that.

         19                 MR. GILL:  I think that is a question

         20  for a special Ed professional rather than a

         21  transportation guy.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  It seemed

         23  interesting there. Okay, Madam Chair, you know, you

         24  decipher that?  Okay, thank you, Mr. Chair.  Because

         25  Madam Chair is on the Education Committee.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, when Council

          3  Member Nelson said, Madam Chair, he was referring to

          4  Madam Chair of the Education Committee.  And

          5  speaking up, we do have a question from Madam Chair,

          6  Council Member Eva Moskowitz.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.  We actually, for Mike is actually an

          9  honorary member of the Education Committee, and we

         10  are going to be having hearings on the

         11  implementation of the new continuum, which has not

         12  worked as well as it is supposed to.  So we will be

         13  taking up that issue in extensive detail.

         14                 I wanted to ask, Mr. Gill, just a few

         15  questions. How many buses are under your

         16  jurisdiction?

         17                 MR. GILL:  Approximately 6,000.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Six

         19  thousand.  And how many of those, by your

         20  definition, require air conditioning, I guess it was

         21  15 percent?

         22                 MR. GILL:  It is 20 percent July 1st,

         23  2003.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Twenty

         25  percent of the 6,000?
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          2                 MR. GILL:  It was negotiated in the

          3  last contract extension, 5 percent per year.  We are

          4  at 15 percent, 20 percent in the next year.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay, and

          6  of the 20 percent that have air conditioning - -

          7  No?

          8                 MR. GILL:  Fifteen percent of those

          9  vehicles, not all 6,000 vehicles, there is regular

         10  Ed, there is large special Ed vehicles, and then

         11  there are smaller ramp wagons and lift buses. Of

         12  those, not 15 percent of the 6,000, 15 percent of

         13  that smaller number.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And what

         15  is the smaller number?

         16                 MR. GILL:  Approximately 2,000.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay, so

         18  15 percent of the 2,000 are required to have air

         19  conditioning?

         20                 MR. GILL:  Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And of the

         22  2,000, do you have the similar type of arrangement

         23  that DOT has, in the sense that you require the

         24  contracts, and then some companies fall down on the

         25  job, and you inspect them and you instruct to get
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          2  their air conditioning up and running, or how does

          3  that work?

          4                 MR. GILL:  Well two parts, one, we

          5  are longer in the business than DOT.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I am

          7  sorry, I did not hear you.

          8                 MR. GILL:  We are longer in the

          9  business than DOT. And early in our tenure with

         10  transportation, we removed approximately 50 percent

         11  of the contractors.  So that the contractors who

         12  remain have produced outstanding performance for

         13  perhaps the last 15 years.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay, but

         15  of the 2,000, you are not suggesting that there was

         16  not a single bus that was not in compliance?

         17                 MR. GILL:  No, in fact, 46 percent of

         18  the buses have air conditioning, although, only 15

         19  percent are required.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay.  But

         21  let's just limit our conversation for the moment to

         22  the 2,000 that are required.  Of the 15 percent of

         23  the 2,000 that are required, how many upon your

         24  inspections did not have air conditioning, zero?

         25                 MR. GILL:  Zero.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay.

          3                 MR. GILL:  Because typically the

          4  company would have double the number of air-

          5  conditioned vehicles at their disposal. When we

          6  assign a child to a bus that requires air

          7  conditioning, they have a larger fleet to select

          8  from.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay.

         10                 MR. GILL:  So it is not as if they

         11  have to go scrounge for an air- conditioned vehicle,

         12  they have one already.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay, but

         14  I guess I find that a little hard to believe, just

         15  you are the expert in transportation.  But my car's

         16  air conditioning fails occasionally, so it seems

         17  like a level of perfection that is quite impressive

         18  that you would never have a bus - -

         19                 MR. GILL:  Oh, oh, I am sorry, I

         20  misunderstood the question.  I mean on any given

         21  day?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Yes.

         23                 MR. GILL:  Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  In other

         25  words, I thought that was what DOT was saying, when

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  they go out and do their inspections, there were 28

          3  instances where the radios failed and 35 instances

          4  where the air conditioning, I assume that it was not

          5  that the bus did not have any, I assume that it was

          6  that the air conditioning was on the blink.

          7                 MR. GILL:  That is correct, and our

          8  numbers will be somewhat higher than that, because

          9  we have more in the fleet.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay.  And

         11  how does the compliance work?  In other words, you

         12  tell them you have got a problem, when you do the

         13  inspection.

         14                 MR. GILL:  Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And do you

         16  assess any damages if it is not - -

         17                 MR. GILL:  Essentially, DOT followed

         18  the Department of Education's contract language,

         19  that is how they developed their bids using the

         20  Department of Education's language.  So the same

         21  liquidated damages apply, we issued approximately

         22  800 violations last year.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  For air

         24  conditioning?

         25                 MR. GILL:  No, no, for a variety.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  And do you

          3  happen to know the numbers on the air conditioning?

          4                 MR. GILL:  No, but I can get that to

          5  you today.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Okay.  And

          7  let me ask you this, and I should have probably

          8  asked DOT this, my own experience with the

          9  Department of Education is that the inspection

         10  process is not always as accurate as the parental

         11  complaint process.  In other words, there is nothing

         12  like actually using the bus to know that there is

         13  not air conditioning, and that has a different level

         14  of veracity than the inspection process.  How many

         15  complaints have you received for the buses that must

         16  have air conditioning?

         17                 MR. GILL:  I do not know the answer

         18  to that question.  We take in, like during the month

         19  of September, we probably receive something in the

         20  neighborhood of 250,000 phone calls.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Did you

         22  say 250,000?

         23                 MR. GILL:  Phone calls.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:

         25  Complaints?
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          2                 MR. GILL:  No, no, just phone calls,

          3  when is the bus showing up.  There is, you know, we

          4  have a very effective customer service that opens up

          5  at five o'clock in the morning and is open until

          6  nine or ten o'clock at night.  And so people get

          7  comfortable- -

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  I would

          9  have to dispute the effective customer service, that

         10  is not always what I hear from parents, so that is

         11  probably a discussion for another day.  But I

         12  bristle a little bit since, I, myself, have

         13  contacted your office on numerous occasion to help

         14  parents who have been left stranded and their

         15  complaints have gone unanswered.

         16                 But leaving that aside, of the, can

         17  you tell me on the issue of air conditioning

         18  specifically, how many complaints, or is that

         19  information that you can get?

         20                 MR. GILL:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  On how

         22  many complaints of the required buses?

         23                 MR. GILL:  Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  That would

         25  be very, very helpful.  And of course, I would urge
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          2  the Department of Education to compare the

          3  inspection, you know, if you are finding 30

          4  complaints or 30 problems when you inspect, and yet

          5  there have been, for example, 500 parental

          6  complaints, there may be a little bit of a

          7  disconnect that would be helpful to look into.

          8                 MR. GILL:  Correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ:  Great,

         10  thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         12  Member Moskowitz.  Are there any other questions for

         13  Kevin Gill?  Thank you for coming down this morning.

         14                 MR. GILL:  Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I would like to

         16  invited the next two witnesses up as a panel, we

         17  have Edna Kleiman and Gary Maffei. And immediately

         18  after this panel, we will invited Yvette Watts and

         19  Doris Vistoso to testify.

         20                 Good morning, Ms. Kleiman from the

         21  Queens Chapter of the Autism Society of America.

         22                 MS. KLEIMAN:  Right.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you for

         24  coming down this morning.

         25                 MS. KLEIMAN:  I am pleased to be
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          2  here.  My own child, now an adult, and I have a long

          3  history of dealing with pupil transportation in the

          4  past.  Children and adults with autism do need to

          5  have air conditioned buses when being transported.

          6  Many have behavioral issues, making loud noises,

          7  throwing things out of the window that is open,

          8  hyperactivity, self- abuse, aggression, which are

          9  precipitated and exacerbated when the individual is

         10  physically uncomfortable.  Aggression can take the

         11  form of hitting, kicking, pinching, hair pulling and

         12  biting.  And when one person goes off, it can set

         13  off some of the other occupants in the bus, creating

         14  an even more dangerous situation.

         15                 I am going to divert from testimony

         16  for a moment, just to respond to a couple of things

         17  that were mentioned before, which I think are

         18  important.  It was said that air conditioned buses

         19  are only provided for disabled pupils when the IEP

         20  calls for it and when it has been shown that it is

         21  medically necessary.  So many parents do not know

         22  what they can get, or what should be on the IEP.

         23  And so it is not that they do not want it, or that

         24  the child does not need it, they do not know that

         25  they can ask for this and have it for their child,
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          2  if their child needs it.  So I really take that

          3  issue in question.

          4                 The other thing that was mentioned

          5  was that if only buses for the disabled have air

          6  conditioned, other pupils would want it too.  Well

          7  that is really a silly argument.  If students need

          8  something, they need it, regardless whether other

          9  students need it or not.

         10                 My own son, now, is an adult of 39,

         11  and he is sensitive to undue heat.  And in fact his

         12  treatment plan, both at his day program and in the

         13  residence, requires air conditioning when the

         14  temperature begins to rise to discomfort level in

         15  order to avoid out- of- control behaviors.  When he

         16  was going to school, there was no air conditioning

         17  on the buses, and there were a lot of behavior

         18  incidents.

         19                 Some 30 years ago, before summer

         20  programming was mandated for children with autism,

         21  the Services Organization in Queens, QSAC, Ari

         22  Mathday is the Executive Director, sponsored its own

         23  summer program.  The contract with the company

         24  providing transportation to and from the program

         25  called for air- conditioned mini- buses and a mobile
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          2  phone on each bus.  Neither requirement was met.

          3  QSAC refused to pay, and the matter ended in court.

          4  The outcome was that QSAC did have to pay something,

          5  but the judge reduced the contract costs

          6  significantly.

          7                 Congestion on the roads gets

          8  progressively worse, and sometimes children have to

          9  travel up to two hours each way on the bus, and they

         10  do this simply because with the push now for less

         11  restrictive environment, which seems to be the

         12  number one mandate of District 75, the priority of

         13  the Federal Disability Act is being somewhat

         14  ignored.  And that priority is to provide the

         15  appropriate quality education.  This is not

         16  happening when one or two classes are being set up

         17  in the local schools.  So parents do fight, there

         18  are a lot of hearings going on, and parents do fight

         19  for private school where they will get a quality,

         20  where they think they will get a quality education.

         21                 So on this business also, of children

         22  just going to their local school is not, does not

         23  meet the problem of air conditioning on the buses.

         24  It is not acceptable that these very vulnerable

         25  children, who spend this travel time in miserably,
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          2  uncomfortable conditions.  The buses must be air

          3  conditioned, and the Board of Ed Department of

          4  Transportation must stipulate this in their

          5  contracts with the bus companies.

          6                 Thank you for your time and

          7  consideration.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Mr.

          9  Maffei from QSAC.

         10                 MR. MAFFEI:  Yes.  Good morning, my

         11  name is Gary Maffei.  I am the Executive Director of

         12  Quality Services for the Autism Community, also

         13  known as QSAC.  Today, QSAC serves over 750 families

         14  throughout New York City and provides transportation

         15  to and from many of our programs.  We currently

         16  operate 20 late model vans, all of which are

         17  equipped with front and rear air conditioning.

         18                 Autism is a severely incapacitating

         19  lifelong developmental disability that typically

         20  appears during the first three years of life.  The

         21  result of a neurological disorder that affects the

         22  brain, autism and its behavioral symptoms occur in

         23  approximately 1 in 250 school children.

         24                 I am here today to request your help

         25  in providing children with disabilities a safe
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          2  journey as they travel to and from school during the

          3  hot summer months.

          4                 While it is policy that children with

          5  disabilities are provided with an air conditioned

          6  bus, we have heard many complaints from parents

          7  whose children arrived home in a highly agitated or

          8  aggressive state due to the fact that they had just

          9  traveled home, sometimes for over an hour, in a hot,

         10  steamy bus.

         11                 Numerous individuals with

         12  disabilities, disabilities, specifically autism, are

         13  non- verbal or have limited communication skills.

         14  Some also exhibit aggressive and/or self injurious

         15  behaviors.  When these individuals become frustrated

         16  or uncomfortable their behavioral outbursts are

         17  amplified.  These children being unable to express

         18  their needs may hurt themselves, other children, or

         19  transportation staff.  Some of thee children also

         20  suffer from seizure disorders that may be

         21  exasperated by extreme heat.  As a society, we must

         22  protect our most vulnerable citizens and provide

         23  them with the same, if not better conditions that

         24  you and I are accustomed to.

         25                 As we all have experienced, traveling
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          2  in an un- air conditioned vehicle through hot City

          3  streets in July, can be extremely irritating.  Now

          4  imagine it if you cannot open the window, turn on

          5  the fan, or complain to the driver, how would you

          6  express your frustration?

          7                 Enacting Intro. 262 will provide many

          8  children with disabilities with a safe and

          9  comfortable ride to and from school. This bill will

         10  go a long way to ensuring the safety of thousands of

         11  children throughout New York City.

         12                 On behalf of all of our children, I

         13  hope the City Council will help to protect them by

         14  providing them with this most basic of supports.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very much

         17  for your testimony.

         18                 We are joined by Council Member Hiram

         19  Monserrate, who is the prime sponsor of Intro. 262,

         20  welcome.  Are there any questions?  And also,

         21  Council Member James Sanders from Queens, thank you

         22  for joining us, this morning.  Are there any

         23  questions from Council members for this panel?

         24  Council Member Monserrate.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank
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          2  you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning, Mr. Maffei, how are

          3  you today?

          4                 MR. MAFFEI:  Good, thank you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  I just

          6  want to, a couple of very general questions.  Have

          7  you received complaints from parents about these

          8  vans or this transportation?

          9                 MR. MAFFEI:  Yes, all the time.  The

         10  children arrive home, and you know, in a very

         11  agitated state.  They have been on the bus for over

         12  an hour in many cases.

         13                 And, you know, we run an after-

         14  school program during the summer hours, so we see it

         15  ourselves.  We take the children off the buses, some

         16  of them are soaking wet.  This past July, August,

         17  when the school programs are open, these are 12-

         18  month school programs we are talking about for the

         19  disabled, they are coming in, as I said, soaking wet

         20  to our after- school program, where we have to take

         21  care of those kind of needs, before we can even

         22  start the programming.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Mr.

         24  Maffei, I have also received complaints to my office

         25  that the actual transportation time, at times,
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          2  exceeds even one hour.  So that these children are

          3  in these non- air- conditioned vans or mini- buses

          4  for over an hour at time, sometimes in the summer in

          5  100 degree weather, for over an hour.  Have you

          6  received similar complaints to that extent also?

          7                 MR. MAFFEI:  Yes, and Ms. Kleiman

          8  from the Autism Society of America in Queens,

          9  mentioned in her testimony that some of these

         10  children have been on buses for two hours.  Again,

         11  against the IEP, and any reasonable standard of

         12  busing children for two hours.  Normal school

         13  children who when you take into effect children with

         14  disabilities, to be on an un- air- conditioned

         15  vehicle in city streets for over two hours, or even

         16  for over 30 minutes, it is intolerable.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Thank you

         18  very much. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         20  Member Monserrate.

         21                 We are joined by Council Member

         22  Andrew Lanza from Staten Island, welcome.

         23                 Any other questions for this panel?

         24  Well, thank you very much for your time this

         25  morning.
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          2                 MS. KLEIMAN:  Thank you.

          3                 MR. MAFFEI:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  And I would like to

          5  invite our next panel up, Yvette Watts from the

          6  Queens MRDD Council, and Doris Vistoso from the PTA

          7  of PS 177.

          8                 MS. WATTS:  Good morning.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  PS 177 of Queens.

         10                 MS. WATTS:  Good morning everyone.  I

         11  am the Chairperson of the Queens MRDD Council, but I

         12  am also a parent of a daughter with autism.  And I

         13  just want to address, before I read my comments, Mr.

         14  Gill's statement, I am one of those parents whose

         15  daughter does have air conditioning on the bus, and

         16  the problem that I have every summer is that it does

         17  not work.  Okay, so when she comes off the bus, what

         18  I am arguing with is that her arms are hot, and she

         19  is burning up.  And I will call them back, and they

         20  will say they put antifreeze or whatever they put in

         21  there, and it works for half the ride.  So there is

         22  a comment for what Mr. Gill said about the air

         23  conditioners that are on the bus.

         24                 Anyway, as a parent of a child with

         25  autism, who has ridden on the mini- van for over
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          2  five years from Queens to Staten Island, that is

          3  where her school is located, I am here to say that

          4  the air conditioning on the buses should be

          5  mandatory and not a luxury item.

          6                 Many of our children, like my

          7  daughter, do not go to their home districts to

          8  attend school.  They are bused miles away from their

          9  homes and put on mini- vans that are aloud to seat

         10  up to 13 children.  My daughter is a little bit

         11  fortunate where she does not have 13, because she

         12  has a long distance, but some of these buses there

         13  are about 13 kids on the bus, and that is stopping

         14  along the way, which makes the ride very lengthy.

         15                 In the summertime, like this summer,

         16  the weather was unbearable.  Whether your child had

         17  a medical problem or not, the temperatures on these

         18  buses were unbearable to anyone with a heart beat.

         19  And that is why we are here today, to please ask you

         20  to put ACs on these buses before our children go

         21  through a long hot summer.

         22                 I am just going to make it really

         23  short.  It was extremely hot this summer and it was

         24  murder for all the children on the bus.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 MS. VISTOSO:  Good morning.  I'm

          3  sorry.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you.  Good

          5  morning, go ahead.

          6                 MS. VISTOSO:  Good morning, my good

          7  Council people, I hope you are all well today.  My

          8  name is Doris Vistoso and I am in favor of passing

          9  the Councilman Monserrate's bill.

         10                 I am a parent of a young child with

         11  autism, he also has severe sensory impairment and he

         12  is non- verbal.  I also represent our PTA from PS

         13  177, which is a self- contained school of site 3,

         14  which is autism, site 6, which is developmental

         15  disabilities, and emotionally disturbed site 7.

         16                 Okay, what I am about to offer is

         17  testimony in a case study on why we need air

         18  conditioning in the summer school buses.  For the

         19  first two years of school, my son attended summer

         20  school, his bus never had air conditioning.  My son

         21  is not a behavior child, he generally cooperates and

         22  is known for being quite friendly.  But in the

         23  summer, his teachers reported that Andy would come

         24  in very sweaty, cranky and irritable, become

         25  aggressive with tantrum and be completely
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          2  inattentive.  All of this is so unlike him, as many

          3  people can tell you.

          4                 In his report cards for the summer,

          5  his teachers said instead of learning, Andy spent a

          6  lot of time having his behavior controlled and that

          7  he had no attention span.  Every September, this

          8  took its toll.  For the first two years of summer

          9  school, he kept regressing six months worth after

         10  these bad summers, because that is what happens to

         11  children with the condition of autism.  If they have

         12  to deal with the sensory stress of heat discomfort,

         13  it takes them hours to reach their equilibrium

         14  again.  And then they get hot again on the way home,

         15  so, Andy spent the whole summer being defensive

         16  about the heat he would have to endure every day,

         17  and was not able to focus on the lessons and

         18  structure that is so vital for his way of learning.

         19  This happens to many parents who have reported to me

         20  also, in the PTA.

         21                 This summer though, I was creative, I

         22  took matters into my own hands.  I declined summer

         23  school, and instead, I home schooled him in my air-

         24  conditioned apartment.  He did not have to ride the

         25  bus for 45 minutes in a hot bus in either direction.
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          2    He did not have to be defensive about the

          3  impending torment of a hot bus.  I used a similar

          4  curriculum to the schools, so he would not miss his

          5  structure.

          6                 The result, I am happy to report this

          7  September, for the first time, his teacher says,

          8  Andy is not only right on target with all learning,

          9  but he has great potential and is smart.  This was

         10  not his prognosis from his three September teachers

         11  before, who said, Andy, has lost a lot of skills.

         12                 Okay, so I would like to detail for

         13  you the cost of leaving my son out of summer school:

         14                 1.  The Board of Education missed my

         15  son's summer funding, obviously.

         16                 2.  I am a New York State Certified

         17  ESL Teacher, which is a shortage area.  I had to

         18  spend my time advocating for my son, and this summer

         19  I had to home- school him.  This summer I would have

         20  taught in school, but I could not, my son needed me,

         21  but he benefited.

         22                 If air conditioning is guaranteed

         23  though, next year, I will be able to send my son to

         24  school and he can have his socialization with all

         25  the other children, and I can also teach in a
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          2  shortage area.

          3                 As vice president on my PTA, I also

          4  hear many other parents complaints.  Children come

          5  to school, or home, or even after- school programs,

          6  again, you have heard this before, soaking wet with

          7  sweat.  Some children are an hour in this hot bus

          8  both ways, I am sure they are also enduring

          9  regression by September for similar sensory reasons,

         10  and it will take about three months to get them back

         11  where they left off in January.

         12                 Another major complaint, I have been

         13  told that even if a bus has air conditioning, a

         14  poor, barely functioning system is considered

         15  acceptable  - -

         16                 MS. WATTS:  Yes.

         17                 MS. VISTOSO: - -  and the child seems

         18  to be getting the mandate, but in fact he or she is

         19  not.  And even then, there seems to be a general

         20  practice that before school, a child waits in the

         21  bus for 20 minutes with the air conditioner turned

         22  off in the yard.  Sit in a hot car next summer for

         23  20 minutes and see if you do not want to punch

         24  someone as soon as you see them?

         25                 Please, I plead for the health of our
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          2  children and their educational progress.  They can

          3  succeed if they are given the right conditions.

          4  They suffer, give them a fighting chance in the

          5  summer to do better, they need it so desperately.

          6  Give them basic comfort that we all take for

          7  granted, give them adequate bus air conditioning.

          8                 I have shown here, yes, that it does,

          9  indeed, make a difference.  Please, pass this bill.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  I want to thank the

         12  both of you for coming down this morning.  I know it

         13  is not easy to come down to a City Council hearing

         14  in the middle of the day.  But I also want to thank

         15  you for the passion and your commitment to this very

         16  important issue.  And I will ensure you that we will

         17  remain committed to this as well.  And I will also

         18  mention that PS 177, actually, happens to be located

         19  in my district, and I intend to visit it shortly.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 Are there any questions from my

         22  colleagues?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MONSERRATE:  Mr.

         24  Chair, just a statement on behalf of these two

         25  parents.  Clearly, I think the Chairman has spoken
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          2  to the fact that I also have an autistic child. So I

          3  commend you both for being here and being advocates

          4  for the autistic community.  It is very necessary

          5  what you do is important, and your cooperation with

          6  us today goes a long way.

          7                 So I thank you both, ladies, for

          8  taking the time to be here, thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         10  Member Monserrate.

         11                 I would like to call up our next

         12  witness, Leonard Baer from Community Board #15 in

         13  Brooklyn, and JPAC.  Good morning, Mr. Baer,

         14  welcome.

         15                 MR. BAER:  Good morning.  I thought I

         16  should mention two things, which I did not include

         17  in here.  Number one, this involves the senior

         18  citizens, I am a senior citizen.  And the reason I

         19  use this is, I was hit by a car.  It is pertinent, I

         20  would think.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Could you, please,

         22  bring the mic closer to you?

         23                 MR. BAER:  Surely.  Is that better?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Yes, much better,

         25  thank you.
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          2                 MR. BAER:  Okay.  I am the

          3  Transportation Chair for Community Board #15.  I am

          4  on the Advisory Board of JPAC.  The reason I mention

          5  JPAC is not because it is included here, but because

          6  JPAC is an organization which uses senior advocacy,

          7  and they, of course, would be involved.

          8                 Okay, now I will just read this as I

          9  go.  A senior citizen is about to cross the street,

         10  he waits for the light to change correctly.  He

         11  begins to cross the street, to his right, many cars

         12  are waiting for the red light to change, and

         13  suddenly, around the corner with the other correct

         14  light, a group of cars and a bus race to make the

         15  corner.  The light is beginning to change, our

         16  senior citizen is half way across the street is in a

         17  trap between ongoing traffic and a potential danger.

         18    Why?

         19                 The second thing, cars race through a

         20  senior citizen center at high speed, potential

         21  danger for the senior citizens. Why?

         22                 Certain areas in the city have large

         23  groups of senior citizens living there and attending

         24  senior centers, Sheepshead Bay is one of them.

         25  Their safety is being disregarded. Improvements and
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          2  modification are called for.

          3                 Resolution 45 presents improvements

          4  and modifications, some of these are:

          5                 Marking in white on the streets near

          6  and in the areas of senior centers, as the schools

          7  do.

          8                 Appropriate signage noting traffic

          9  speed for this area is to be reduced to 15 to 20

         10  miles an hour, which it coordinates.

         11                 Signage in areas intersections

         12  indicating to motorists that pedestrian traffic as

         13  specific area crossings are mainly senior citizens,

         14  Sheepshead Bay, again, is one of them.

         15                 Turn signal and timing and signage

         16  must also be coordinated.

         17                 Signage nearing these areas should

         18  indicate the appropriate areas.

         19                 These and other traffic calming

         20  devices and signage would relieve problems in

         21  traffic, recognize the needs of senior citizens in

         22  these areas and in general improve traffic problems

         23  for all.

         24                 Now this is something I am adding to

         25  it as an addendum.  Recently an 82- year- old senior
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          2  citizen was struck down, killed, and her body

          3  dragged for five blocks.  This might have been

          4  avoided.

          5                 Now I am just going to quoted 45,

          6   "Resolve that the appropriate New York City

          7  agencies coordinate a safety plan in New York City

          8  identifying intersections where senior citizens and

          9  senior citizen centers frequently use them.  And

         10  require signs advising motorists to proceed

         11  cautiously."

         12                 Are there any questions?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Baer.  I believe we have some questions

         15  from Council Member Nelson, who is the prime sponsor

         16  of this resolution.

         17                 We are joined by Council Member

         18  Miguel Martinez, this morning, welcome.

         19                 Council Member Nelson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         21  Chairman Liu. Mr. Baer, thank you for coming, you

         22  came all the way in from Brooklyn.

         23                 MR. BAER:  My pleasure.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  And it was a

         25  slight downfall today, so that makes it all the more
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          2  valuable that you took time out.  And I know there

          3  are a lot of others that would have liked to do so,

          4  so I know you are representing them as well.

          5                 MR. BAER:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So you have

          7  found, of course, that you were hit, unfortunately,

          8  yourself.

          9                 MR. BAER:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  And injured,

         11  and the possibility, and I believe the likelihood of

         12  having some sort of signage, if you will, and

         13  preferably painting in the streets would get into

         14  the minds of many motorists who are going along.

         15  Surely, when you see something, all of a sudden

         16  popping in a street, you look, because you do not

         17  know what it is at first, and you know that there is

         18  something special about this area.  So you feel

         19  motorists seeing this, it would, perhaps, help in

         20  the areas of slowing down, traffic calming, and

         21  preventing some, or perhaps many seniors from being

         22  hurt.

         23                 MR. BAER:  Areas in the City, in

         24  fact, on the East Coast where there are many, many

         25  senior citizens, New York is one of them.  The area
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          2  in which we reside is full of senior citizens.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I know in my

          4  Councilmanic District, I am told, has the highest

          5  concentration of seniors.

          6                 MR. BAER:  It does, except for parts

          7  of Florida.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  But in New

          9  York we are really there, huh?

         10                 MR. BAER:  We are really there, we

         11  are it.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  And all the

         13  more reason to have this.  I, of course, obviously,

         14  this is why I pushed this forward because of my

         15  constituency.  But I am sure it would be a

         16  tremendous asset to the entire City.

         17                 MR. BAER:  My feeling is that

         18  somebody should have done this long before this,

         19  this is a much needed thing.  Many of the signs that

         20  are there are out of date and actually inappropriate

         21  at certain times.  And many of these things are

         22  reasonably inexpensive to do, and will save lives.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  That is why I

         24  thank the Chair for bringing this to the fore.  He

         25  realized that it was an issue of keen importance
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          2  overall, and with the City officials, by the way,

          3  addressing even the other issues that we brought up

          4  today, it is all for the protection of the citizenry

          5  of the City of New York.  And I feel while the City

          6  officials who spoke today, certainly well intention,

          7  on the testimony indicated various figures and

          8  numbers, I do not think it offsets the need to

          9  codify Intro. 16- A and 262.  And as a matter of

         10  fact, to sponge from this Committee Reso. 45 onto

         11  the entire floor, because you could consider this a

         12  local level, anticipatory self- defense, where we

         13  are coming to the age where we want to do things in

         14  advance of what might be, despite testimony to the

         15  counter.  We truly feel as elected officials that

         16  this is what is best to protect the people of the

         17  City of New York.

         18                 MR. BAER:  By the way, I did not

         19  mention a second group of people who are also very

         20  much affected.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  The

         22  handicapped.

         23                 MR. BAER:  The handicapped, the

         24  infirm, that is correct.  This particular thing was

         25  mentioned for the elderly, but the infirm are just
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          2  as important.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  It is true,

          4  we have to protect of course our children, our

          5  school children, or children who might not even be

          6  going to school at the moment.  But surely, or

          7  besides them, the seniors and the handicapped, and I

          8  think this is a holistic approach that we are

          9  looking at.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, any

         11  other questions, well, that is your job.

         12                 MR. BAER:  Any other questions, I

         13  would be glad to answer them.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  Thank you, Council

         15  Member Nelson.

         16                 MR. BAER:  It is an important

         17  subject.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  It sure is.  Are

         19  there any other questions at this time?  Thank you

         20  very much, Mr. Baer.

         21                 MR. BAER:  You are very welcome.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU:  This Committee will

         23  consider the two Intros., as well as Resolution 45

         24  at another hearing we will schedule in the next

         25  couple of months, and possibly vote this out of the
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          2  Committee.

          3                 At this point, if there are no other

          4  witnesses, this morning, then this meeting of the

          5  Transportation Committee is adjourned.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 11:20 a.m.)
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